ORIGINAL

03-15321

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 FILED 3 MARLO THOMAS, 4 Appellant, APR 0 3 2003 5 vs. JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERK OF SUPPEME COUR 6 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 7 40248 Respondent. Case No. 8 9 10 11 12 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 13 14 15 DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ. DAVID ROGER 16 LAW OFFICE OF DAVID M. SCHIECK DISTRICT ATTORNEYS OFFICE 302 EAST CARSON AVE., STE. 600 200 S. THIRD STREET 17 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 18 BRIAN SANDOVAL 19 NEVADA ATTORNEY GENERAL 100 N. CARSON STREET 20 CARSON CITY, NV 89701 (702)687-353821 22 23 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT 24 25 RECEIVED 26 MAR 3 1 2003 27 CLERK OF SUPA THE COURT 28 ATTEMPOR

3-29-63

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

THOMAS was charged by way of Information with Conspiracy to Commit Murder and/or Robbery; Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (two counts); Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm; and First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon. The case arose out of the stabbing deaths of Matthew Gianakis and Carl Dixon at the Lone Star restaurant at Cheyenne and Rainbow in Las Vegas, Nevada. (1 APP 1-7)

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death

Penalty setting forth six aggravating circumstances: two prior

violent felony convictions; during commission of robbery;

during commission of burglary; to avoid lawful arrest; and

conviction of more than one murder. (1 APP 8-10)

Trial commence on June 16, 1997, Lee Elizabeth McMahon and Peter LaPorta of the Special Public Defender's Office represented THOMAS. THOMAS was convicted of Count I - Conspiracy to Commit Murder and/or Robbery; Count II - Murder of the First Degree with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count III - Murder of the First Degree with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count IV - Robbery with the Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count V - Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm; Count VI - First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon. (1 APP 274)

The penalty hearing took place on June 25, 1997 and the jury began deliberations at 1:40 PM and returned verdicts at 6:40 PM. (1 APP 275) The jury found in it's special verdict

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

the existence of all six (6) charged aggravating circumstances and found no mitigating circumstances and based thereon returned two verdicts of death. (1 APP 275)

THOMAS appealed the conviction and sentence of death to the Nevada Supreme Court. Appellate counsel was Mark Bailus, Esq. THOMAS' direct appeal was denied on November 25, 1998 and his conviction and sentence of death affirmed. Thomas v. State, 114 Nev. 1127, 967 P.2d 1111 (1998). A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed with the United States Supreme Court and denied on October 4, 1999. (1 APP 38)

Thereafter THOMAS timely filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) on January 6, 2000 alleging, inter alia, that he had been denied the effective assistance of counsel at district court and on direct appeal. (1 APP 36-70) On July 16, 2001 THOMAS filed a Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Points and Authorities in Support Thereof. (1 APP 71-147) After hearing argument on the issues raised, the Court granted THOMAS a limited evidentiary hearing. (1 APP The evidentiary hearing was bifurcated due to 283-84) scheduling problems and occurred on January 22, 2002 and March 15, 2002. (1202-21; 222-33) Post Hearing Briefs were submitted by THOMAS and the State. (1 APP 185-94; 195-201)

On August 21, 2002 the Court entered it's decision on the record (1 APP 252-54) and on September 10, 2002 the Notice of Entry of Order and Decision was served on THOMAS (1 APP 234-249). The Notice of Appeal was timely filed (1 APP 250-51).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. TRIAL TESTIMONY

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

For purposes of this Brief THOMAS will incorporate the Facts from the decision of this Court on the direct appeal, with the caveat that THOMAS has consistently maintained that no proper investigation was conducted before the trial or penalty hearing and therefore the testimony presented was virtually unopposed at trial and penalty hearing and does not accurately portray the facts of the case. (See e.g. Buffalo v. State, 111 Nev. 1145, 901 P.2d 647 (1995) wherein the Court found that the overwhelming evidence that appeared after trial was entirely different from the evidence that came to light after post-conviction pleadings).

"In March, 1996, Thomas worked at the Lone Star Steakhouse in Las Vegas as a dishwasher until he was laid off from his job. Apparently Thomas had trouble showing up for work because he lived some distance away in Hawthorne with his wife, Angela Love Thomas.

On Sunday, April 14, 1996, Thomas, Angela, and Angela's fifteen-year-old brother, Kenya Hall, drove from Hawthorne to Las Vegas and arrive at the house of Thomas' aunt, Emma Nash, and cousin Barbara Smith. At about 7:30 a.m. on Monday, April 15, 1996, the three travelers drove to the Lone Star Steakhouse in order for Thomas to try to get his job back. The restaurant was closed to the public that early in the day. Angela waited in the car while Thomas, accompanied by Hall, entered the Lone Star. No discussion about robbery occurred at any time between Thomas and Hall. According to Thomas, he possessed a loaded 9-millimeter weapon. As they were walking toward the building from the parking lot, a delivery truck arrived nearby. Thomas expressed dismay and returned to the car to retrieve another loaded gun before approaching the building again. At this time, Thomas possessed both a loaded .32-caliber revolver and a loaded 9-millimeter weapon.

The two went to the back door where employees usually enter. Stephen Hemmes, a Lone Star employee, was leaving temporarily because he did not have work appropriate shoes. Thomas and Hemmes spoke for a few minutes, and Thomas inquired as to who was acting as manager that morning. Hemmes replied that the manager was Vincent Oddo, and Thomas stated that he did not like Oddo. Thomas further asked when Hemmes would return, Hemmes answered that he would return in approximately twenty minutes, and he left. Thomas then knocked on the back door, and another employee, Matthew Gianakis, opened the door for them to enter.

Thomas and Hall walked through the kitchen toward the manager's office. Thomas knocked on the office door, and Oddo, who was on the phone, let them in. In Thomas' videotaped confession, (FOOTNOTE OMITTED) Thomas stated that he and Oddo discussed Thomas' job, which led to an argument, and that Thomas left the office. Thomas further stated that he had no intent to commit robbery; however, he admitted that he returned to the office with Hall a minute later and pulled out his .32-caliber revolver. Thomas stated that Oddo became frightened and told Thomas and Hall to take whatever money they wanted. Despite the fact that Thomas admitted pointing the gun directly at Oddo, Thomas claimed that Oddo initiated the robbery by giving them money.

Both Hall and Oddo testified that upon Thomas' arrival at the manager's office, Thomas immediately snatched the phone from Oddo's hand, hung it up, and pulled out his .32-caliber revolver. Thomas pointed it directly at Oddo's face and demanded that Oddo open the safe and give them the money. Oddo complied, and Thomas handed the gun to Hall and requested that Hall retrieve the money from Oddo. It is disputed whether Thomas told Hall to shoot Oddo. Although frightened and confused, Hall took the gun from Thomas, remained in the office with Oddo, took two or three bank bags of money from Oddo, allowed Oddo to run out of the building, and left to return to the car.

After Thomas gave Hall the gun, but before any money exchanged hands, Thomas left the office because he knew that two employees and former co-workers, twenty-one year old Gianakis and twenty-four year old Carl Dixon, were 'circling around.' According to Thomas' videotaped confession, Thomas went to the men's restroom, which was also a hangout for the

employees, to find the two men. Upon entering the bathroom, Thomas saw Gianakis at the sink and Dixon in a stall. Thomas also observed that Gianakis had laid a meat-carving knife with a five- to seven- inch blade on the bathroom counter. Thomas blocked the door to prevent the two from leaving the bathroom while the robbery was taking place in the manager's office. A struggle ensued between the three men, and Thomas picked up the knife and stabbed Dixon several times until Dixon fell to the floor. Meanwhile, Gianakis ran from the bathroom, and Thomas ran after him, stabbing him once in the front and once in the back.

Evidence was also presented at trial that Thomas specifically enticed or attempted to entice the two victims into the bathroom. Hall's testimony revealed that Thomas explained that he told Dixon he needed to talk in the bathroom. Once Dixon entered the bathroom with Thomas, Thomas began stabbing him. Thomas told Hall that he then called to Gianakis to join him in the bathroom, but Gianakis refused to enter. Then, according to Hall, Thomas chased Gianakis around the comer and stabbed him twice.

After returning to the car, Thomas asked Hall if Hall had killed Oddo. Upon learning that Hall had not, Thomas stated that Hall should have done so because 'you're not supposed to leave witnesses.' At some point, the money from Oddo's office was transferred from the bank bags to a dark blue pillowcase.

Oddo, who had escaped after giving Hall the money, ran across the street to call for help. Gianakis, who had just been stabbed twice, stumbled next door to a gas station/mini-mart and collapsed, dying shortly thereafter. Dixon's dead body remained on the bathroom floor.

The medical examiner testified at trial that Dixon suffered fifteen defensive stab wounds on his extremities and three to five severe stab wounds on his right chest about six inches deep, penetrating his heart, lungs, pulmonary artery, and aorta. The cause of Dixon's death was multiple stab wounds. The medical examiner further testified that Gianakis suffered two fatal stab wounds, one to his chest and one to his back, penetrating both his heart and left lung. The cause of Gianakis' death also was stab wounds.

Thomas, Hall, and Angela returned to Nash and Smith's house. Thomas told both Nash and Smith that

if anyone asked, they should state that they had not seen him. Smith noticed that Thomas' clothes and shoes were bloody. The blood on the clothes and shoes was later determined to be consistent with Dixon's blood. Thomas gave Smith the money-filled pillowcase, and she started counting the contents. Thomas told her that "I did it" and that he had to take care of something and get rid of two people. He also stated to Nash that one of the two men got away (referring to Gianakis) and Thomas hoped that he (Gianakis) died. Thomas gave \$1,000.00 to Smith to give to his mother, and he gave the .32-caliber revolver to Nash to give to her son. Thomas then changed his attire and took his bloody clothes and shoes, the knife used in the Lone Star bathroom, and the 9-millimeter gun into the desert beyond the house's backyard. The police recovered all the items except for the 9-millimeter gun, which was never found.

Thomas, Hall, and Angela packed the pillowcase containing the rest of the money into the car trunk and drove back to Hawthorne, where they were arrested. . . " (1 APP 78-81)

B. EVIDENTIARY HEARING

On July 16, 2001 THOMAS filed a Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Points and Authorities in Support Thereof. (1 APP 71-147) After hearing argument on the issues raised, the District Court granted THOMAS an evidentiary hearing on only three of the issues raised in his Petition and Supplement. Those issues were designated by the Court in it's ruling as issues Eight, Nine and Ten (1 APP 252-54). Issue Eight was failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct at the penalty hearing, Issue Nine was improper argument by trial counsel, and Issue Ten was failure to adequately prepare for trial.

The evidentiary hearing was bifurcated due to scheduling problems and occurred on January 22, 2002 (1 APP 202-21) and March 15, 2002 (1 APP 222-233). As the hearing was limited to only three issues THOMAS provides a summary of the testimony as it relates to each specific issue. As THOMAS has cited many of

the arguments and testimony throughout the Supplemental Points and Authorities the validity of which was not challenged by the State or the District Court THOMAS cites to said Supplement for the verbatim quotes. The alternative would require a voluminous appendix encompassing the entire trial and penalty hearing.

Number 8: Failure to Object to Improper Closing Argument

THOMAS specifically described the improper arguments made at the penalty hearing in his Supplemental Petition. (1 APP 114-121) During the evidentiary hearing trial counsel Peter LaPorta and Lee Elizabeth McMahon were asked about the arguments and failure to object. The first argument challenged by THOMAS was one that urged the jury to show THOMAS the same mercy that he showed the victims as follows:

"The defendant is deserving of the same sympathy and compassion and mercy that he extended to Carl Dixon and Matt Gianakis. Don't let justice be robbed in the name of mercy." (1 APP 114)

Ms. McMahon testified that THOMAS was the first capital penalty hearing that she had ever handled (1 APP 208), and that the argument seemed objectionable and that she had no tactical or strategic reason for not objecting at the penalty hearing (1 APP 210). Likewise LaPorta admitted that the argument was objectionable and he had no reason not to object other than he "missed it." (1 APP 225)

The next group of improper arguments were grouped under the category of "sending a message to the community" and included the following:

"By your verdict you will be sending a message to the community. You will be sending a message to other people who might consider going into establishments to rob at gunpoint, at knife point. You will send a message to other criminals that when you go out to commit crimes, you do it at your own risk, and that if you kill during your crimes, the community is

looking at the most absolute and final punishment you can receive. Punishment is an appropriate objective of the criminal justice system. Punishment is society's sense of moral outrage at people who commit crimes. And in this case, deadly crimes." (1 APP 117-18)

Upon reviewing this argument McMahon stated that it was "certainly objectionable" and that she knew of no tactical or strategic reason for not objecting. (1 APP 210) LaPorta also had no strategic reason for his failure to object. (1 APP 225)

The answers from LaPorta and McMahon were basically the same for all of the remaining improper arguments in this area, that they should have objected and had no tactical or strategic reason for having failed to do so. The remainder of the statements are discussed hereinbelow in the argument section.

THOMAS also raised on direct appeal the failure to object to the improper arguments that contained facts not in evidence. When confronted with these arguments and failure to object McMahon could not recall any evidence being presented concerning programs to rehabilitate or about the number of persons on death row that had killed once or more than once (1 APP 211). She could also not recall any strategic or tactical reason for not objecting to the arguments at the penalty hearing (1 APP 211-12). Just as with all of the other improper closing arguments, LaPorta could recall no strategic reason for his failure to object (1 APP 227).

Number 9: Improper Remarks by Trial Counsel Toward THOMAS

The second issue the court allowed to be litigated at an evidentiary hearing concerned disparaging remarks about THOMAS made by LaPorta in his arguments to the jury. (1 APP 121-23)

When questioned at the evidentiary hearing about the comments, LaPorta stated that he made the arguments for a strategic reason and explained that:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

ARGUMENT

I.

THOMAS RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment quarantees that a person accused of a crime receive effective assistance of counsel for his defense. The right extends from the time the accused is charged up to and through his direct appeal and includes effective assistance for any arguable legal points. Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967). The United State Supreme Court has consistently recognized that the right to counsel is necessary to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial, guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct.55, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932); <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). Mere presence of counsel does not fulfill the constitutional requirement. The right to counsel is the right to effective counsel, that is, "an attorney who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984); McMann v. Richardson, 439 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 25 L.Ed.2d. 763 (1970).

Pre-trial investigation is a critical area in any criminal case and failure to accomplish same has been held to constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. The Nevada Supreme Court in <u>Jackson v. Warden</u>, 91 Nev. 430, 537 P.2d 473 (1975) stated:

"It is still recognized that a primary requirement is that counsel...conduct careful factual and legal investigations and inquiries with a view toward developing matters of defense in order that he make informed decisions on his client's behalf both at the pleading stage...and at trial."

<u>Jackson</u> 91 Nev. at 433, 537 P.2d at 474. The Federal Courts

are in accord that pre-trial investigation and preparation for trial are a key to effective representation of counsel. <u>U.S. v. Tucker</u>, 716 F.2d 576 (1983). A lawyer who fails to adequately investigate, and to introduce into evidence, records that demonstrate his client's factual innocence, or that raise sufficient doubt as to that question to undermine confidence in the verdict, renders deficient performance. <u>Hart v. Gomez</u>, 174 F.3d 1067, 1070 (9th Cir. 1999). <u>See also</u>, <u>Evans v. Lewis</u>, 855 F.2d 631 (9th Cir. 1988) holding that a failure to investigate possible evidence could not be deemed a trial tactic where the lawyer did not view relevant documents that were available.

In <u>U.S. v. Baynes</u>, 687 F.2d 659 (1982) the Court, in language applicable to this case, stated:

"Defense counsel, whether appointed or retained is obligated to inquire thoroughly into all potential exculpatory defenses and evidence, mere possibility that investigation might have produced nothing of consequences for the defense could not serve as justification for trial defense counsel's failure to perform such investigations in the first place. Fact that defense counsel may have performed impressively at trial would not have excused failure to investigate defense that might have led to complete exoneration of the Defendant."

In <u>Warner v. State</u>, 102 Nev. 635, 729 P.2d 1359 (1986) the Nevada Supreme Court found that trial counsel was ineffective where counsel failed to conduct adequate pre-trial investigation, failed to properly utilize the Public Defender's full time investigator, neglected to consult with other attorneys although urged to do so, and failed to prepare for the testimony of defense witnesses. <u>See also</u>, <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991).

To establish ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must satisfy the two prongs set forth in Strickland
V. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Under

Strickland, a defendant must first show that his counsel's performance was deficient. To be deficient, counsel's performance must be "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance" Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. Upon establishing deficient performance, a defendant must then show that this deficient performance prejudiced his defense. The defendant need not show that the deficient performance more likely than not altered the outcome of the case, but must demonstrate only a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id., at 694.

THOMAS'S conviction and death sentence are invalid under the State and Federal guarantee of effective assistance of counsel, due process of law, equal protection of the laws, cross-examination and confrontation and a reliable sentence due to the failure of trial and appellate counsel to provide reasonably effective assistance of counsel. United States Constitution Amendments 5, 6, 8, and 14; Nevada Constitution Article I, Sections 3, 6 and 8; Article IV, Section 21.

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