IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ORIGINAL

FILED

4

6

8

9

1

2

3

5 MARLO THOMAS,

Appellant,

7 v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

JUL 10 200**3**

Case No. 40248

10

11

12

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

14

15

16

17

18

13

Nevada Bar #000824 302 East Carson Avenue Suite 600

19

20 21

22

23

24

25

26 27

28

DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ. Law Office of David M. Schieck Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 382-1844

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

NRS 175.552 states, in pertinent part: "In the hearing, evidence may be presented concerning aggravating and mitigating circumstances relative to the offense,

defendant or victim on any other matter which the court deems relevant to sentence, whether or not the evidence is ordinarily admissible." Pursuant to NRS 175.552, the questions of admissibility during the penalty phase of a capital murder trial are largely left to the discretion of the trial judge. In addition, the United States Supreme Court in Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 96 S.Ct. 2978 (1976), determined that the relevant factors to be considered by a jury in imposing a penalty for a capital crime are "the character and record of the individual offender and the circumstances of the particular offense."

The State introduced testimony of eighteen (18) witnesses who testified regarding the the defendant's prior criminal history and character. (6 RA 1341 – 1524). Additionally, the State called one of the parents of each murder victim to provide "victim impact" statements to the jury. (6 RA 1529- 1538). A jury considering the death penalty may consider victim impact evidence as it relates to the victim's character and the emotional impact of the murder on the victim's family. Rippo v. State, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017 (1997); citing Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991). In Hornick v. State, 108 Nev. 127, 825 P.2d 600 (1992), this Court adopted the holding in Payne, and found it comported fully with the intendment of the Nevada Constitution. It is well established in Nevada that evidence of prior convictions is admissible at penalty hearings when relevant and credible and not dubious and tenuous. Jones v. State, 101 Nev. 573, 707 P.2d 1128 (1985).

Trial counsel did not act unreasonably in not objecting to the testimony concerning the prior criminal history of the Defendant as well as his character. As stated *supra*, pursuant to NRS 175.552, the questions of admissibility during the penalty phase of a capital murder trial are largely left to the discretion of the trial judge. The Defendant has not shown strong and convincing proof that counsel was ineffective. Nor has the Defendant shown that but for counsel's alleged errors, there

is a reasonable probability that the result at sentencing would have been different. Therefore, the Defendant failed to satisfy the <u>Strickland</u> standard.

Accordingly, the district court's determination that there was no merit to the defendant's contention that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to cumulative bad act evidence was correct and should not be disturbed.

2. The District Court Properly Determined that Presentation of Victim Impact Statements Was Constitutional and Defense Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Failing to Object to the Victim Impact Statutory Scheme

In this argument, the Defendant asserts that the Nevada statutory scheme which imposes no limits on the presentation of victim impact testimony is unconstitutional and that trial counsel's failure to object to that scheme was ineffective assistance of counsel. The District Court determined that the failure to object did not amount to ineffective assistance of counsel. (AA, pg. 258).

In <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529 (1987), the Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits a jury from considering victim impact evidence at the sentencing of a capital trial. The Supreme Court further held that victim impact evidence is inadmissible in a capital case because it creates a constitutionally unacceptable risk that the jury may impose the death penalty in an arbitrary and capricious manner.

The Defendant, in the instant case, seems to make an analogous argument. However, <u>Booth</u> has been overruled by <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 501 U.S. 808, 830, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 2611 (1991). As stated *supra*, a jury considering the death penalty may consider victim-impact evidence as it relates to the victim's character and the emotional impact of the murder on the victim's family. <u>Rippo v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017 (1997); *citing* <u>Payne</u>, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991).

In the instant case, Fred Dixon and Phyllis Dixon, Carl Dixon's parents, provided statements that showed an emotional impact on their family. (6 RA 1531 -

1536). Similarly, Alexander Gianakis, Matthew's father, testified at the penalty hearing what life would be like without his son. (6 RA 1536 – 1538). The three victim impact witnesses (including Phyllis Dixon's written statement) were each related to the two murder victims. They testified about the quality of Matthew and Carl's lives and the impact of their deaths upon themselves and their family members. (6 RA 1531 – 1538). This testimony did not violate the Defendant's constitutional rights. See Wesley v. State, 112 Nev. 503, 916 P.2d 793 (1996); Castillo v. State, 114 Nev. 271, 956 P.2d 103 (1998). In addition, the admission of Phyllis Dixon's out of court hand written statement does not violate the Defendant's right to due process. See Williams v. New York, 337 U.S. 241, 69 S.Ct. 1079 (1949). Therefore, trial counsel did not have a good faith basis to object to the penalty hearing testimony.

As stated *supra*, the court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether or not defendant has demonstrated, by "strong and convincing proof," that counsel was ineffective. Homick v State, 112 Nev. 304, 310, 913 P.2d 1280, 1285 (1996); *citing* Lenz v. State, 97 Nev. 65, 66, 624 P.2d 15, 16 (1981). The role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978); *citing*, Cooper v. Fitzharris, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977).

In addition, the Defendant has failed to show that "but for" trial counsel's ineffectiveness, the result would have been different. *See* Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052. The Defendant failed to allege or provide support for his contention that trial counsel would have been successful in arguing that the statute was unconstitutional. Therefore, the Defendant's argument should be denied, and the District Court's determination should be upheld.

3. The District Court Properly Decided That No Prosecutorial Misconduct Occurred During Closing Argument of Penalty Phase and that Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Failing to Object to the Prosecutor's Comments.

In this argument, Defendant alleges that the prosecutor committed misconduct during the closing argument of the penalty phase of the Defendant's trial. The Defendant specifically complains about the following statements:

A killer should forfeit his life to live in a civilized society or in prison for the rest of his life when he kills two people.

• • • •

The murders were committed by a person with an IQ of 79. The murders were committed by a person who had suffered as a child and young adult with learning disabilities. The murders were committed by a person who had suffered as a child and young adult with emotional disabilities. The murders were committed by a person who had bladder incontinent until age 12. I don't mean to belittle these problems. But the fact of the matter is that many people in society come from broken homes, they come from homes where perhaps they have been neglected. They have learning disabilities. But is that sufficient to mitigate a double murder? A person who had been given many, many breaks by the criminal justice system?

. . . .

With regard to mitigating circumstances or mitigating factors that have been alleged by the defense, as you heard about half of those mitigating factors come from our statutes. But the ones that seem to deal with this particular case, like the IQ, mercy, bladder control, bladder difficulties, those were submitted by defense counsel. They are not statutory mitigating circumstances.

• • •

There was testimony regarding certain problems he had with his bladder as a child, twelve or thirteen years ago. Millions and millions of people,

• •

The defendant has already been convicted twice of two violent felonies. He's already victimized many people, both inside and outside the prison. The defendant took the lives of two innocent men in a horrific manner. Where does he go from there? What does he do for an encore? The shorter the sentence, the sooner this community will find out.

children, go through life with problems at an early age. Some of then

outgrow them, some continue on to teenage years, even later. People have visual problems, people are hearing impaired, people have difficulty walking. Millions of people. And the list goes on. These people do not

go out and premeditate and kill two living breathing human beings. His

bladder condition, the fact that he may have been teased as a child, which many of us probably were exposed to growing up, that can serve as no

excuse for what he did on April the 15th.

(7 RA 1657 - 1688).

The Defendant further alleges that trial counsel's failure to object to this alleged misconduct was ineffective. The District Court determined that the Defendant's trial counsel did not have a good faith basis to object to the prosecutor's comments, and thus was not ineffective for failing to object. (AA, pg. 242).

The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon the defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial." Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (citing Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). The relevant inquiry is whether the prosecutor's statements so contaminated the proceedings with unfairness as to make the result a denial of due process. Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). The Defendant must show that the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, he was denied a substantial right, and as a result, he was materially prejudiced. Libby, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054.

In the instant case, trial counsel did not have a good faith basis to object to the prosecutor's comments. The Defendant was unable to show that the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, that he was denied a substantial right, or

17[°]

that he was materially prejudiced. *See* <u>Libby</u>, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054. The District Court properly ruled that the prosecutors were allowed to argue that the mitigators advanced by the Defendant were not sufficient to mitigate two murders. (AA, pg. 258).

The role of the court is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978); *citing*, <u>Cooper v. Fitzharris</u>, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977). The Defendant failed to show that counsel acted unreasonably. Accordingly, the District Court's order should be upheld, as the defense counsel can not be shown to be ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's statements.

4. Defense Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Failing to Object to Constitutional Jury Instructions Used During the Guilt and Penalty Phases of the Defendant's Trial and the Nevada Supreme Court Properly Declined to Consider this Argument on Direct Appeal.

In this argument, the Defendant asserts that the jury instructions that were furnished both at trial and at the penalty hearing were unconstitutional and that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instructions.

At the conclusion of the trial testimony, the Court questioned the parties if they objected to any of the instructions that the Court indicated would be given to the jury. (6 RA 1209). Defense counsel objected to all of the instructions, arguing that they violated the Defendant's due process rights under the United States and Nevada's constitution. (6 RA 1209). The District Court denied the Defendant's objection. (6 RA 1210).

During the argument and decision on the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), the District Court noted that blanket objections do not

8

.10

12

11

13

14 15

16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23

24

25 26

27

28

constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, nor require a new trial or penalty phase. (AA, pg. 260).

Near the conclusion of the evidence at the penalty hearing, outside of the presence of the jury, the Court asked defense counsel if they had any objection to any of the instructions that the Court had indicated would be given. (7 RA 1618). Defense counsel stated they had no objections. (7 RA 1618 - 1619). In addition, the Court asked if defense counsel requested any other instructions be given. (7 RA 1619. Defense counsel answered, "No, Your Honor, our requested instructions were included." (7 RA 1619).

Initially, it must be noted that Defendant failed to properly preserve this issue for appeal. Where a defendant fails to preserve an issue, this Court will review that issue only if it is patently prejudicial or constitutes plain error. See Hewitt v. State, 113 Nev. 387, 392, 936 P.2d 330, 333 (1997), overruled in part on other grounds by Martinez v. State, 115 Nev. 9, 12, 974 P.2d 133, 135 (1999). Plain error has been defined as that which is " '...so unmistakable that it reveals itself by a casual inspection of the record.' "Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1529, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995) citing Torres v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 106 Nev. 340, 345 n.2, 793 P.2d 839, 842 (1990) (quoting Williams v. Zellhoefer, 89 Nev. 579, 580, 517 P.2d 789, 789 (1973)). "[A]n improper instruction rarely justifies a finding of plain error." United States v. Still, 857 F.2d 671, 671 (9th Cir. 1988) (quoting United States v. Glickman, 604 F.2d 625, 632 (9th Cir. 1979)). "It is the rare case in which an improper instruction will justify reversal of a criminal conviction when no objection has been made in the trial court." Henderson v. Kibbe, 431 U.S. 145, 154, 97 S.Ct. 1730, 1736 (1977).

The District Court has broad discretion to settle jury instructions and decide evidentiary issues. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 116, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). As such, this Court will review the District Court's decision to give a particular instruction for an abuse of discretion. Id. An abuse of discretion occurs if the district

court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason. Id. A jury instruction will be presumed valid unless Defendant can show that a "different result would have been obtained had the proposed instruction been given." Barron v. State, 105 Nev. 767, 777, 783 P.2d 444, 451 (1989).

A. Premeditation and Deliberation Instruction

Here, the Defendant contends that the court improperly instructed the jury on the concepts of premeditation and deliberation. Before closing arguments in the trial phase, the Court read instructions to the jury. Instruction number twenty-four (24) specifically stated:

Premeditation is a design, a determination to kill, distinctly formed in the mind at any moment before or at the time of the killing. Premeditation need not be for a day, an hour or even a minute. It may be as instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. For if the jury believes from the evidence that the act constituting the killing has been preceded by and has been the result of premeditation, no matter how rapidly the premeditation is followed by the act constituting the killing, it is willfull, deliberate and premeditated murder.

(5 RA 906); (6 RA 1226).

The Defendant bases his argument on this Court's decision in <u>Byford v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000). However, Defendant filed his brief on September 9, 1997. This Court did not render the <u>Byford</u> decision until February 28, 2000. The trial court in 1997 obviously did not use the new instructions set out in <u>Byford</u>. Instead, the court in this case properly instructed the jury with the law which was in existence at the time of the trial; and the <u>Byford</u> decision is not retroactive. Moreover, even if the court applied <u>Byford</u> retroactively, any instructional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in this case.

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